

# General rules for accreditation of conformity assessment bodies

**71 SD 0 001** | Revision: 1.3 | 29. August 2012

# Area of application:

This rule describes the general process of accreditation procedures. It primarily serves to provide information for applicants about the process of accreditation. It contains requirements to conformity assessment bodies and to the accreditation procedure. It applies for all accreditation activities and is binding on all institutions and persons involved in the process of accreditation.

Additional general or sectoral requirements can be defined in further subordinate documents.

Date of approval by the Accreditation Advisory Board: 29.08.2012



# **Table of contents**

1.	General information	3
2.	Requirements for accreditation	3
3.	Procedure of the accreditation process	
3.1.	Application procedure	
3.1.1.	Request and expert talk	
3.1.2.	Application for accreditation	4
3.1.3.	Submission of necessary documents	5
3.2.	Assessment process	5
3.2.1.	Preparation of the assessment On-site assessment	5
3.2.2.	On-site assessment	6
3.2.3.	After the on-site assessment	7
3.3.	Accreditation process	7
3.3.1.	Decision on accreditation	
3.3.2.	Notification of accreditation, accreditation certificate and annex to the certificate	8
3.4.	Surveillance procedure	8
3.5.	Extension and re-accreditation	9
3.5.1.	Extension of accreditation	9
3.5.2.	Re-accreditation	10
4.	Revocation and repealing of notifications of accreditation and suspending, withdrawing or reducing of accreditation (Art. 5 para. 4 VO (EG) nr. 765/2008, §§ 48. f. VwVfG)	10
5.	Procedures outside of the coverage of FUI-regulation 765/2008	11



### 1. General information

The Deutsche Akkreditierungsstelle GmbH (DAkkS) was authorized as the German accreditation body by the Federal Ministry of Economics and Technology (BMWi), according to regulation (EC) No 765/2008 and the Accreditation Body Act of July 31th 2009 (AkkStelleG) and the legislations based on this act, to accomplish accreditations pursuant to article 5 of regulation (EC) No 765/2008. DAkkS acts under sovereign jurisdiction and is within the scope of its duties subject to the Administrative Procedure Act (VwVfG) and further administrative provisions.

This document should inform prospective applicants in detail about the general requirements for the accreditation as a conformity assessment body and the process of accreditation by DAkkS. The requirements defined by this document apply as general rules within the meaning of § 5 para. 2 no. 1 and 2 AkkStelleG.

# 2. Requirements for accreditation

Classified as conformity assessment bodies (CAB) are laboratories, certification and inspection bodies, providers of proficiency testing schemes, reference materials producers as well as validation and verification bodies<sup>1</sup>. In principle an accreditation is possible if the general requirements of accreditation according to § 5 para. 2 no. 1 and 2 AkkStelleG, which refer to respective normative requirements, are fulfilled. The normative requirements for the particular conformity assessment bodies are set out in:

- DIN EN ISO/IEC 17025 for testing and calibration laboratories;
- DIN EN ISO 15189 for medical laboratories;
- DIN EN ISO/IEC 17020 for inspection bodies;
- DIN EN 45011 for certification bodies for products;
- DIN EN ISO/IEC 17021 for certification bodies for management systems;
- DIN EN ISO/IEC 17024 for certification bodies for persons;
- DIN EN ISO/IEC 17043 for providers of proficiency testing schemes;
- DIN EN ISO/IEC 17025 in connection with ISO Guide 34 for reference materials producers;
- DIN EN ISO 14065 for validation and verification bodies for greenhouse gases.

Further requirements – particularly requirements of legal regulations and accreditation criteria for individual departments are defined in sectoral rules. They apply in addition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Validation and verification bodies are bodies as defined in regulation (EU) No 600/2012 from 21th of July 2012 about the testing of greenhouse gas emissions reports and tone-kilometre reports and the accreditation of bodies according to directive 2003/87/EG of the European Parliament and the European Council



# 3. Procedure of the accreditation process

# 3.1. Application procedure

### 3.1.1. Request and expert talk

On its website DAkkS provides information about the process of accreditation, the requirements of accreditation and the specific requirements for certain scopes of accreditation and the contact details of contact persons from individual departments.

If requested by the CAB a free expert talk up to two hours in one of the DAkkS offices or a charged expert talk at the CAB can be hold. Content of the expert talk could be for example:

- Information about content, procedure and budget of the accreditation process;
- Clarification of the scope of the intended accreditation;
- Information about specific accreditation criteria for the intended accreditation;
- Rights and obligations of the customer and DAkkS after accreditation has been granted.

# 3.1.2. Application for accreditation

Application forms and all corresponding forms are provided on DAkkS website or will be provided to the applicant on request. The application must contain the complete intended scope of accreditation and signed with a legally binding signature by an authorized representative of the CAB. Changes of the application are possible and have to be signed in a legally binding way like the application. Changes of the applied scope during the assessment on-site are only possible after agreement with the office of DAkkS.

All applications will be registered within DAkkS by the central application processing, formally tested and forwarded to the responsible department(s) for a technical review. The case number is determined by the central application processing. If more departments are concerned, a leading department will be determined by DAkkS central application processing. The confirmation of the receipt and the completeness of the application will be handled by the leading department. In the confirmatory letter the name of a contact person is given. Normally this contact person is the customer manager for all accreditations of this customer. If an application is made incomplete, is incorrect or unclear, DAkkS works towards a correction or supplement of the application.

If one or more power-conferring authorities (BeB) have to be informed according to § 4 para. 1 AkkStelleG, DAkkS will send them immediately a copy of the application and manages the process in collaboration with the BeB in compliance with the requirements of the AkkStelleG<sup>2</sup>.

This paragraph is not applicable for accreditation procedures outside of the scope of regulation 765/2008 (EU).



### 3.1.3. Submission of necessary documents

After application the applicant has to submit the documents, which are necessary for preparing the assessment. For every CAB-type (testing laboratories, inspection bodies, etc.) the necessary documents are listed, the corresponding forms (72 FB 004.X) are available on the website of DAkkS and also will be sent by the customer manager on request. The submission of the necessary documents should normally be done electronically. The submitted documents should enable an explicit allocation to the documents listed in the appropriate corresponding form. The specific planning of the assessment of the CAB will only take place after the application documents are submitted completely.

### 3.2. Assessment process

### 3.2.1. Preparation of the assessment

DAkkS checks the submitted documents for completeness and plausibility, puts, if necessary by agreement with the BeB, the assessment team together and determines the assessment extent (including the monitoring of the conformity assessment activities on site (witness audit)). According to § 2 para. 3 AkkStelleG, DAkkS makes use of the available technical expertise of other authorities for the purposes of assessment. Assessments and surveillance for the areas listed in § 1 para. 2 sentence 2 AkkStelleG are commissioned to be undertaken by the BeB³. The CAB will be informed about the designated assessors and the organisations they belong to. The CAB can raise a written objection against particular assessors within two weeks after the notification of the assessors, stating a reason. The decision about the consideration of the raised objection will be made by DAkkS. In case of assessments for the areas listed in § 1 para. 2 sentence 2 AkkStelleG the decision is made in consultation with the BeB.

After the assessment team has been finally determined, the assessors will be assigned by DAkkS. The relevant documents of the CAB will be sent to the members of the assessment team. The assessors are entitled to demand additional documents by the CAB. The demand of those documents will be notified and finally committed to DAkkS. If the document check does not result to an objection the proposed date for the assessment is considered as confirmed. If the document check by the assessment team reveals deviations, which in principle preclude from an accreditation, the CAB will be informed by the customer manager and requested to submit revised documents. An assessment on site only takes place after another document check does not result in any deviations, which preclude from an accreditation.

General rules for accreditation of conformity assessment bodies

The current framework and cooperation agreements and the agreed process description for performing the assessment and surveillance activities apply here.



The CAB can request a charged one-day preliminary visit at the applicant by an assessor. Emphasis of the preliminary visit is:

- evaluation of the personnel, equipment-wise and accommodation requirements for the accreditation;
- evaluation of the suitability of the available quality management system;
- the documentary check;
- the reconciliation of the scope of the accreditation;
- a mutual exchange of information and the clarification of open questions concerning the process of accreditation.

#### 3.2.2. On-site assessment

Before the assessment an assessment plan will be created for the course of the assessment and will be coordinated with the CAB. The assessment plan should be available for the CAB at least one week before the assessment. For certification and inspection bodies the on-site assessment also involves additional witness audits, beside the assessment of the office location, in which the activity of the CAB will be monitored at one or more client in the particular areas applied for accreditation.<sup>4</sup>

The assessment starts with an opening meeting, in which, among other things, the purpose, the applicable criteria and the assessment plan will be explained. In the course of the assessment a review of processes described in the documentation of the CAB in their practical implementation and a rating with regard to the accreditation criteria. The aim of the assessment is the determination of the competence of the CAB to carry out the applied conformity assessment activities and the conformity with all requirements laid down in the accreditation rules.

The accreditation team shall be granted access to all premises, records and documents relevant to the accreditation, including personnel records, unless legislation states otherwise. The assessors are committed to the confidential use of all data they got access to while performing their task for DAkkS. The accreditation team shall be provided all aid and support necessary for their task, as long as it is required for the assessment. The assessment of the CAB takes place at their office and the places where testing, inspection and/or certification work is carried out. The CAB has to ensure that on-site assessments by the assessors of DAkkS at clients and, where necessary, sub-contractors (e.g. laboratories) can be carried out.

The assessment ends with a final meeting of the assessment team with the representatives of the CAB. In this meeting the assessment team presents the assessment results, documents the detected deviation and informs about the further steps to be taken in the proceeding. As far as possible the required corrective actions will be defined on-site by the CAB and documented in the non-conformity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Witness audits are also carried out by BeB-assessors at assessments according to § 2 para. 3 sentence 2 AkkStelleG.



reports. The fundamental suitability of the defined measures will be confirmed by the signature of the particular assessor in the non-conformity report. If necessary the CAB will be given the necessary time for a root cause analysis and the setting of appropriate corrective actions, for which a period of two weeks is considered appropriate. The deadlines for fulfilling the corrective actions should be defined in the particular deviation report. After the first accreditation the deviations should be eliminated within a maximum period of four months. For re-accreditations, surveillance and extensions there is a deadline of two months, as far no other period was set by the assessor. A shortening of the period shall be justified in the individual case. An extension of the period requires the approval of DAkkS. In individual cases non critical non-conformities can be converted into conditions. An follow up-assessment on-site can be determined due to the assessment results. All proofs of elimination of non-conformities have to be submitted to DAkkS afterwards.

### 3.2.3. After the on-site assessment

The assessment reports will be sent immediately to the CAB after receipt and examination at DAkkS office. The CAB will be given the opportunity to comment on the reports after receiving them. A period of two weeks is considered appropriate.

The CAB sends the proofs of performed corrective actions to the particular assessors. The assessors confirm by signature on the deviation report the implementation of corrective actions that meet the given requirements. The assessors can demand improvements on the submitted corrective actions to the CAB. Costs for the necessary increased assessment expenditure will be charged to the CAB's account. The increased assessment expenditure has to be explained to DAkkS by the assessor. If the given period of time for implementation of the corrective actions cannot be adhered or the documentation of the CAB is so much defective that the corrective actions cannot be approved by the assessors a follow up assessment can be required. Non critical non-conformities can lead to scheduled conditions.

# 3.3. Accreditation process

# 3.3.1. Decision on accreditation

The accreditation committee is an organ of DAkkS and consists of all members that can be involved in decisions about an accreditation. Members of the accreditation committee are persons with technical expertise, which are appointed for this purpose by the DAkkS management. It is determined for each member for which departments it can be included in the accreditation decisions. DAkkS ensures confidential handling with information about the specific accreditation process by the members. The objectivity, impartiality and independence of the accreditation decision are guaranteed. For each department, which is concerned in a specific accreditation process, an accreditation committee (AkA) of the above mentioned members will be formed. Based on the recommendations of the assessment team the AkA decides in internal relationship on the accreditation for this department. If more than



one AkA, i.e. more than one department, included in an accreditation process they decide independently of one another each for its specific department. For accreditation decisions for areas named in § 1 para. 2 sentence 2 of the AkkStelleG two thirds the AkA members are appointed from among expert and competent persons belonging to the responsible BeB in accordance to §10 para. 1 No 3 sentence 2. In accordance with § 4 para. 3 AkkStelleG, DAkkS reaches in these cases its decision on accreditation in agreement with the authorities that carry out the assessment.

A precondition for forming an AkA is that all corrective actions on the part of the CAB have to be carried out, conditions for all non critical non-conformities have been suggested and the documentation of the process, including the recommendation on accreditation of the assessment team, is completely available. Normally a period of 4 weeks is intended for the decision making process in the AkA.

### 3.3.2. Notification of accreditation, accreditation certificate and annex to the certificate

The accreditation is granted in form of a notification according to the specifications of the VwVfG. The accreditation is usually granted for 5 years. With a positive notification the applicant receives an accreditation certificate including the annex, from which the accreditation scope is apparent in detail. If applied for, the authorization to use the accreditation symbol is included in the notification of accreditation. Conditions that might be connected with the positive decision are specified in the notification of accreditation.

With granting of accreditation the CAB will be listed in the database of accredited bodies on the website of DAkkS. This list is maintained by DAkkS and shows the current scope of CABs accredited by DAkkS. If the accreditation is not or only partially granted, the CAB receives a notification with an explanatory statement. Objections within the meaning of article 7.10 of DIN EN ISO/IEC 17011 against (partially) negative notifications of accreditation will be treated as opposition as defined by § 79 VwVfG.

# 3.4. Surveillance procedure

For the maintenance of the accreditation regular surveillance measures should be performed during the accreditation period. The defined surveillance intervals are oriented on the requirements of DIN EN ISO/IEC 17011 as well as internationally common monitoring intervals of European accreditation bodies. Monitoring measures can be among others:

- On-site assessments at the CAB;
- Documentary checks;
- Witness audits and witness tests.

For on-site assessments the following intervals apply:



The first surveillance take place not later than 12 month after accreditation has been granted. All further surveillance assessments for laboratories, inspection bodies, providers of proficiency testing schemes and reference materials producers generally take place in an interval of 18 month. For certification bodies, validation and verification bodies all further surveillance assessments generally take place in an interval of 12 months.

In addition the following principles apply:

- In the sum of surveillances between two reassessments (e.g. between the assessment for the initial accreditation and reassessment) the entire scope of accreditation incl. the QM-system have to be assessed representative on-site;
- For an accreditation of a CAB with several locations the sum of surveillances between two reassessments the entire scope of accreditation incl. the QM-system have to be assessed representative on-site on every location;
- Additional specifications of the BeB or the standard-setting bodies (e.g. for product certification bodies) about scope and frequency of monitoring activities are considered, when they deviate from the above mentioned monitoring activities;
- In justified cases the monitoring intervals can be shortened. This can happen due to a recommendation of an assessor, an AkA-decision or a decision by DAkkS;
- Extraordinary surveillances are possible in justified exceptional cases.

The preparation, realization and post processing of surveillance activities will be carried out according to the procedure described in 3.2. After completion of the procedure the CAB receives a confirmation of the maintenance of accreditation from the customer manager, unless the surveillance activities lead to a restriction of the scope of accreditation. In those cases an AkA will be formed. By completion of the procedure the CAB will be informed about the date of the next regular assessment.

### 3.5. Extension and re-accreditation

# 3.5.1. Extension of accreditation

An extension occurs only upon request. Extensions can be occurred in line with a regular surveillance assessment or at a different time. An application for an extension in line with a regular surveillance assessment should be available for DAkkS at least eight weeks before the scheduled assessment. In justified exceptional cases extensions and changes of the scope can be requested during the assessment when the assessor is, with regard to his expertise, in a position to realize such an extension and DAkkS confirms this. The procedure generally complies with the process described in the sections 3.1 to 3.3. In justified exceptional cases a decision on the basis of a document check is possible.



### 3.5.2. Re-accreditation

In due time before the expiry of an accreditation the CAB will be informed about this circumstance and the possibility of a re-accreditation will be offered. The maximum permitted time interval of 60 months between two reassessments must be maintained. The re-accreditation requires a renewed application of the CAB. The procedure of re-accreditation complies with the process described in 3.1 to 3.3.

4. Revocation and repealing of notifications of accreditation and suspending, withdrawing or reducing of accreditation (Art. 5 para. 4 VO (EG) nr. 765/2008, §§ 48. f. VwVfG)

In DIN EN ISO/IEC 17011 the following terms are defined:

Suspending: process of temporarily making accreditation invalid, in full or for part of the scope of

accreditation

Withdrawing: process of cancelling accreditation in full

Reducing: process of cancelling accreditation for part of the scope of accreditation

In administrative law the facts of withdrawing or reducing of an accreditation granted by DAkkS are implemented through a (partial) revocation or a repealing (in the case of illegality) of the notification of accreditation. In this section the revocation of a notification of accreditation is synonymously used as the withdrawing or reducing of accreditation. The suspending of accreditation occurs as a provisional measure not as a revocation, but as a measure of its own kind by notification.

For DAkkS accreditations that are granted outside of the scope of EU regulation 765/2008 only the terms of DIN EN ISO/IEC 17011 apply.

The revocation of a notification of accreditation can be effected completely or partially by request of the CAB, due to the results of surveillance or other circumstances. Reasons for a revocation of notification of accreditation by DAkkS can be:

- Loss of significant requirements of accreditation (e. g. personnel, accommodation, equipment);
- Repeated or serious breach of the rules of accreditation;
- Wilful deceit of the accreditation body by submission of false or incomplete information, which are important for the assessment of the CAB;
- Non-conformance with granted conditions even after an extension of time limit.



Revocation of a notification of accreditation occurred after a decision of the AkA. In case that a CAB applies itself for suspending, withdrawing or reducing a decision of the AkA is not necessary. The entry in the database of accredited CABs will be adjusted or deleted. Issued certificates including annex have to be sent back on demand. Authorities that granted a permission, designation or notification due to an accreditation will be informed about the revocation, suspending or withdrawing. The accreditation expires through expiry of the accreditation period, a waiver declaration or when the activity covered by the accreditation is definitely discontinued. Determining and abdication have to be notified immediately. The reinstatement of accreditation only occurs after decision of the AkA and requires an on-site-assessment as a rule.

The repealing of an accreditation can occur, when it subsequently becomes aware that the requirements of Section 2 were not fulfilled at the time of accreditation and thus the accreditation is illegitimate.

Objections within the meaning of Section 7.10 of DIN EN ISO/IEC 17011 against notifications of revocation, withdrawing or suspending are treated as objections in the meaning of § 79 VwVfG.

# 5. Procedures outside of the coverage of EU-regulation 765/2008

The accreditation of CABs outside of the territorial coverage of EU-regulation 765/2008 is not subject of the regulations of the VwVfG, AkkStelleG, the regulations there under and other laws concerning administrative law. The accreditation of CABs outside of the territorial coverage of EU-regulation 765/2008 is carried out non-sovereign and by respecting the appropriate rules of EA, ILAC and IAF. After confirmation of an application the execution of the accreditation is processed based on a contract between the CAB and DAkkS.

The processes and requirements described in this document apply accordingly, if they are not explicit contractually excluded.

Granting accreditation is carried out only by issuance and publication of an accreditation certificate including annex.

To ensure sufficient communication between assessor and the personnel of the CAB and to ensure that records of the CAB can be read, understood and reviewed, at least one person independent from the CAB, who speaks the local language and is available for the translation in German or English language, has to be part of the assessment team. The necessary documents to prepare the accreditation (e.g. documentation of the quality management system), have to be submitted in German or English language. The communication between DAkkS and the CAB outside assessment is also carried out in German or English language. If the service of one or more translators is needed, the assessment time will be longer to ensure an adequate depth of assessment.